FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 12/8/2021 2:55 PM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

100456-7 No. 54347-8-II

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION II OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

DOMINICK BYRD,

Plaintiff - Appellant,

V.

ALETTA HORTON et al,

Defendants - Appellees.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

FILED ON BEHALF OF PLAINTIFF-APPELLANT DOMINICK BYRD

Richard M. Simpson, WSBA #53162 Simpson Law PLLC 539 Broadway Tacoma, WA 98402 (253) 219-5225 Attorney for Petitioner: Dominick Byrd

A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Petitioner Dominick Byrd [and aggrieved party Richard Simpson, WSBA #53162], asks this court to accept review of the Court of Appeals decision terminating review designated in Part B of this petition.

B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Division II of the Court of Appeals issued an unpublished decision in Cause No. 54347-8-II on November 9, 2021; Byrd moved to publish the opinion on November 15, 2021. That motion is undecided at this time. A copy of the decision is in the Appendix at pages A-1 through 3. Byrd requests review of the Court of Appeals, Division II, in *Dominick Byrd, Appellant v. Aletta Horton et al., Respondents*, No. 54347-8-II, which affirmed the trial court's issuance of \$25,000 sanction against Byrd's attorney [Simpson] for injured plaintiff Byrd's inability to post a \$500,000 supersedeas bond; issuance of \$5,000 sanction against Simpson for "lying before the tribunal" despite no lie; granting of Defendant Horton's CR 2A Motion to Compel Settlement; and dismissal with prejudice a complaint against two separate and identifiable parties, Aletta Horton and MBK Housing LLC.

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Is review appropriate where the decision to sanction a lawyer under Civil Rule 11 for "lying before the tribunal" is upheld when (i) the lawyer did not lie before the tribunal; (ii) opposing counsel for defendant *did* lie before the tribunal and there is demonstrable proof of several deceptions; (iii) the sanctioned attorney took action warranted by existing law or a good faith argument for the extension of existing law,

aimed at reducing any improper purpose, such as to harass or to cause unnecessary delay or needless increase in the cost of litigation under codified law at RCW 4.22.060; and (iv) the attorney did not violate the black letter of Civil Rule 11?

- 2. Is review appropriate where the decision to sanction a lawyer for his injured plaintiff client's inability to post a "defendant" or supersedeas bond is upheld when that decision is in conflict with RAP 8.4 and RCW 19.72.020, not to mention common sense?
- 3. Is review appropriate where the trial court's decision to enforce a CR 2A Motion to Compel Settlement is upheld or ignored when (i) CR 2A motions are to be treated in the same manner as motions for summary judgment and are to be viewed in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party; (ii) there are genuine issues of material fact to the underlying agreement, including named released parties that defendant's counsel inserted prior to presentation at the behest and influence of their third-party, non-litigant employer insurance company?
- 4. Is review appropriate where the trial court's decision to dismiss with prejudice in its entirety a case against both an insured individual as agent and a rental housing company owned and operated by that same individual as principal when no consideration for dismissal had been provided by the rental housing company, in contradiction to *Pickett v. Stephens-Nelsen, Inc.*, 43 Wn. App. 326, 717 P.2d 277 (Wash. Ct. App. 1986)?

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On October 17, 2017, Dominick Byrd suffered third degree burns requiring skin grafts covering approximately 30% of his body due to a house fire that originated in a vacant room within a rental property owned and operated by agent Aletta Horton and principal MBK Housing LLC. MBK Housing LLC is a Washington State company that owns and operates a number of residential rental properties throughout Tacoma, Washington, including the house where the negligent fire occurred. By all reasonable inferences, (i) the fire originated at an electrical outlet in the vacant room; (ii) some or all prior electrical work had been modified by Aletta Horton, her family members, or one of her other companies as general contractor; and (iii) the vacant room lacked a smoke alarm.

Prior to filing Byrd's complaint, Byrd's attorney sent a demand letter to adjuster Jamee Griffin at Safeco Insurance, Horton's insurer, demanding monetary settlement in exchange for a release of all claims against Horton. Upon rejection of this demand, Byrd's attorney at Simpson Law PLLC (i) notified Horton's assigned defense attorneys at Preg O'Donnell & Gillett that Mr. Byrd's damages, due to the permanent injuries he sustained, including a \$400,000 hospital bill, exceeded the amount of Horton's insurance proceeds under the liability portion of her policy; and (ii) demanded from Horton the proceeds from the policy (\$500,000) and an assignment of rights under her insurance policy along with a stipulated agreement for a reasonable amount beyond policy limits, pursuant to existing law, all to avoid a lawsuit against Horton, their client. Despite this being in Horton's best interest, Horton's attorneys pressed for litigation. In an initial

phone conversation with Jeff Daly, Horton's defense counsel, he plainly stated, "I don't know why they [referring to Safeco] don't just waive policy limits." Under established insurance law, it is insurance defense who makes the call to the insurance adjuster whether to settle or litigate, thus Daly presumably took a risk at litigation rather than encourage settlement early on. Following months of futile and useless efforts and settlement demands, each time demanding policy limits, Byrd filed his complaint in Superior Court on September 18, 2018. After filing, attorneys for Safeco Insurance contacted Byrd's attorney and became involved, illegally, in negotiations. Six months after filing his complaint, Horton's attorneys finally agreed to pay the policy limits, and Byrd agreed to release the named insured, Aletta Horton, from the suit. Although Safeco was not a party to this underlying suit, it intervened in the terms of the settlement agreement between Horton and Byrd and inserted itself, Safeco, and MBK Housing LLC as released parties. Byrd had no intention of releasing Safeco or MBK Housing LLC, yet Horton's attorneys appeared at the exchange of the check with an altered contract, one that released MBK and Horton's insurer (again, even though Horton's attorneys did not represent Safeco).

With Horton's contribution in hand, her limited financial ability to satisfy a judgment greater than this amount, and Byrd's excessive damages, Byrd moved for a "reasonableness hearing" pursuant to RCW 4.22.060 to reduce unnecessary delay and to reduce the needless increase in the cost of litigation. Existing case law supported this motion and Simpson signed on Byrd's behalf. Even though this arrangement ultimately helped Horton, her attorneys moved for a CR 2A Motion to Enforce Settlement at the

same time as the reasonableness hearing. Given Safeco's interference with the contract between Horton and Byrd, Byrd presented material facts to the trial court that the contract was either unenforceable by the court or that Horton's attorneys had presented a counteroffer to Byrd's demand. The trial court failed to view the CR2A Motion in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party, Mr. Byrd, and ultimately sided with Horton's defense team. The trial court then sanctioned Simpson \$5,000.00 for "lying before the tribunal", payable to Preg, O'Donnell & Gillett, despite no falsification of the truth. Coincidently, \$5,000.00 is the standard copay for liability insurance suits under many policies. Simpson informed the trial court judge that he would never lie before the court and also presented evidence of opposing counsel deliberately lying, but the trial court did not budge. Instead, the trial court stated that Simpson could appeal the entire case.

Upon an initial attempt at an appeal, Horton's defense attorneys sought a supersedeas bond requirement, otherwise known as a defendant's bond, and successfully obtained an order from the trial court stating that Byrd must post a \$500,000.00 bond with the court in order to move forward with his appeal. After only a matter of several days, when Mr. Byrd had only been in initial negotiations with sureties and banking institutes, following the judge's orders, Horton's defense attorneys moved for deficient bond and demanded sanctions. At the next hearing, despite providing evidence that Mr. Byrd, as plaintiff, made efforts to obtain a half a million dollar defendant's bond, the trial court sanctioned Simpson \$25,000.00 for failure to post a bond.

Byrd's initial appeal in the Court of Appeals Division II, Cause No. 53216-6, had been dismissed and mandated back to the Superior Court. Some months following this dismissal, the same trial court judge who issued the \$5,000.00 and \$25,000.00 sanctions against Simpson refused to reconsider the issuing of these sanctions and instead stated that an arrest warrant would be issued against Simpson if he failed to pay the total amount of \$30,000.00, despite violations of due process requirements and the appealable nature of sanctions.

After a second appeal to Court of Appeals Division II, for the sanctions, the Court of Appeals dismissed Simpson's appeal and thus he and Byrd, as both aggrieved parties, seek review by the Supreme Court for this grave and unusual miscarriage of justice.

E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED STANDARD OF REVIEW

Decisions either denying or granting sanctions, under CR 11 or for discovery abuse, are generally reviewed for abuse of discretion.¹

Given the nature of the issues presented by Mr. Byrd, together with the factual pattern of this particular case, Mr. Byrd asks the Court to review all issues *de novo*.

I. Issue #1: "Lying Before the Tribunal"

A trial court abuses its discretion when its order is manifestly unreasonable or based on untenable grounds.² A trial court would necessarily abuse its

¹ See Wash. State Physicians Ins. Exch. Ass'n v. Fisons Corp., 122 Wn.2d 299, 338, 858 P.2d 1054 (1993), citing Cooter Gell v. Hartmarx Corp., 496 U.S. 384, 405, 110 L.Ed.2d 359, 110 S.Ct. 2447 (1990).

² Holbrook v. Weyerhaeuser Co., 118 Wn.2d 306, 315, 822 P.2d 271 (1992); Watson v. Maier, 64 Wn. App. 889, 896, 827 P.2d 311, review denied, 120 Wn.2d 1015 (1992).

discretion if it based its ruling on an erroneous view of the law.³ Civil Rule 11 explicitly provides that "the signature of a party or of an attorney constitutes a certificate by the party or attorney that the party or attorney has read the pleading, motion, or legal memorandum, and that to the best of the party's or attorney's knowledge, information, and belief, formed after an inquiry reasonable under the circumstances:

- (1) it is well grounded in fact;
- (2) it is warranted by existing law or a good faith argument for the extension, modification, or reversal of existing law or the establishment of new law;" *See* CR 11.

Important in the analysis of the CR 11 sanctions against Simpson for "lying before the tribunal", then, is an objective determination that Simpson moved for a "reasonableness hearing" under RCW 4.22.060, under existing legislative and judicial law, and not for any improper purpose. Even if the trial court judge mis-categorized "Rule 11" sanctions with "lying before the tribunal" sanctions, Simpson is adamant that he presented no lie before the tribunal, and is willing to testify to this statement under oath and under penalty of perjury. The presumptive purposes of RCW 4.22.060, a legislative law, and "reasonableness hearings", a legal proceeding, are to relieve the courts from the burdens of excessive litigation and to resolve conflicts in the easiest means possible. The Washington State Supreme Court has addressed this issue in numerous instances, establishing that an insurer which defends its insured under a reservation of right to contest coverage has an enhanced fiduciary obligation to act in

³ Physicians Ins. Exch. v. Fisons Corp., 122 Wn. 2d 299, 339 (Wash. 1993), citing Cooter Gell, 496 U.S. at 405.

good faith toward its insured.⁴ In meeting its enhanced obligation of fairness when providing for the defense of its insured under a reservation of rights, an insurer must thoroughly investigate the cause of the incident being litigated and the nature and severity of the plaintiff's injuries; retain competent defense counsel who understands that the insured is his only client (emphasis added); and refrain from exhibiting a greater concern for its monetary interest than for the insured's financial risk. Tank, 105 Wn. 2d 381 (Wash. 1986). Without delying into the rich history of RCW 4.22.060 and stipulated judgments, the Supreme Court has created clear guidelines and precedence establishing the nature of the relationship between the insurer, insured, and insurance defense. As insurance defense, Preg O'Donnell & Gillett clearly engaged in behavior and actions that demonstrated a greater concern for the monetary interests of their employer over that of their "only client" Aletta Horton by pressing for Mr. Byrd to sue Ms. Horton rather than settle on terms that might benefit Horton. Due to the obvious conflict of interest in the case at hand, it makes no sense neither in hindsight nor even today that Horton's attorneys would object or fight a scenario that would either avoid a lawsuit against its client or resolve the conflict against their client sooner rather than later. In the case at hand, Byrd recited the law in great efforts to Horton's attorneys and yet they remained influenced by their employer insurance company. After nearly a year of asking for Horton's liability policy limits (not to mention property damage amounts), insurance defense and insurer attorneys finally handed over a check for the full amount of the policy proceeds in exchange for a full and final release of "the insured" (a statement

⁴ See Tank v. State Farm, 105 Wn. 2d 381 (Wash. 1986).

Jeffry Daly for Preg O'Donnell acknowledged in open court). MBK Housing LLC is not an insured party. For obvious but unethical reasons, the insurer had to approve their settlement agreement and John Silk, attorney for Safeco, with a separate law firm, made a decision to pay out the \$500,000.00, which is presumably Horton's own assets as the policyholder. Her attorneys, then, violated their ethical duty to their own client, violated the rule of law, and deceived everyone involved in litigation even prior to Byrd's filing of his complaint. It is entirely predictable, given legal precedence, as well as common sense, that a lawyer representing a catastrophically injured plaintiff with third degree burns requiring skin grafts would move the court to reach an amount that might reasonably compensate him and avoid further legal recourse against a defendant highly unable to compensate Mr. Byrd fully for the injuries he sustained and she caused. And yet, Horton's attorneys fought the simple agreement, pushed for further litigation, and sought to compel settlement. As will be discussed below, these attorneys went so far as to appear at Simpson's office with check in hand but with an entirely altered agreement, one that released both Safeco and MBK Housing from liability. Mr. Byrd did not include these terms in the agreement, but instead Silk at the firm Wilson Smith Cochran and Dickerson, lawyer(s) for the insurer (not a party to the present suit), inserted these terms into the agreement between Horton and Byrd. This information is presented as a foundation for the abuse of discretion standard that applies to the initial sanctions imposed against Simpson for "lying before the tribunal."

Here, a Judge, as a State actor, issued sanctions for "lying before *the tribunal*" (emphasis added) in the amount of \$5,000 payable to Preg O'Donnell & Gillett.

These sanctions, though issued without proper due process requirements, *should* presumably be paid to the State, and not to the opposing law firm in the underlying litigated matter. Otherwise, this has the potential to create an enormous conflict of interest, an abhorrent concept to the legal system, and in addition amounts to State-enforced extortion when the same trial judge threatens to issue an arrest warrant for failure to pay sanctions absent meeting due process requirements.

Examination of decades of legal disputes concerning the reservation of rights defense and the inherent conflict this arrangement creates demonstrates that it is apparent that Horton's attorneys lied, or had every incentive to lie, before the tribunal. Mr. Byrd, sleeping at the time of the fire, had no reason to lie and neither did his attorney, who simply sought to follow the law. Even if the plaintiff's lawyer is found to have been deserving of sanctions for following the law and representing his client the best that he possibly could, then it stands that any award of sanctions should not be paid to opposing counsel, but rather to the State. By issuing sanctions payable to the defense legal team, the legal system would enable these attorneys to continue litigating the matter at the expense of the plaintiff's chosen law firm. They are bankrolled by an insurance company (an extremely well-funded one at that). It cannot serve justice well if State-endorsed sanctions directed at a plaintiff's lawyer are payable to the firm defending a "client" and not looking out for her best interests, and looking only to be paid themselves through unnecessary sanction practice.

Finally, Mr. Byrd has still only obtained the policy limits, the exact same amount he had sought since pre-filing of the complaint. In other words, no harm no foul. What

possible reason could the plaintiff's lawyer have to lie under circumstances of clear liability, severe damages, and limited resources of the defendant? The defense team, employed by the insurer, has many millions of reasons to lie. In fact, during this litigation, plaintiff's lawyer submitted at least two separate instances in which the defense counsel had deliberately lied before the tribunal. Clearly, with demonstrable proof, the Horton's attorneys lied under oath and yet received no sanctions. There is no proof that the plaintiff's lawyer provided false information, because there is none.

II. Issue #2: "Failure to Post Supersedeas Bond"

Again, a trial court abuses its discretion when its order is manifestly unreasonable or based on untenable grounds and would necessarily abuse its discretion if it based its ruling on an erroneous view of the law.⁵ Revised Code of Washington 19.72.020 plainly states that "whenever any bond or recognizance is required, or permitted, by law to be made, given or filed...no attorney-at-law, sheriff, clerk of any court of record, or other officer of such court, shall be permitted to become such surety." *Id.* Rules of Appellate Procedure 8.4(a) further provides that "a party may not act as a surety." *Id.* A court-ordered sanction against a plaintiff attorney for his client's inability to post a defendant's bond is perhaps the most obvious abuse of discretion as simultaneously unreasonable and based on an erroneous view of the law, particularly when the plaintiff attorney plainly offered in open court to return the original check (i.e. the \$500,000 check) and he himself is legally barred from posting bond for a client/litigant. The natural consequences of

⁵ See Holbrook v. Weyerhaeuser Co., 118 Wn.2d 306, 315, 822 P.2d 271 (1992); Physicians Ins. Exch. v. Fisons Corp., 122 Wn. 2d 299, 339 (Wash. 1993), citing Cooter Gell, 496 U.S. at 405.

failing to post a bond would amount to termination of an appeal, which indeed happened, and not *additional* costs to the plaintiff or his attorney. This arguably amounts to obstruction of justice at the State level. In Court, on the record, plaintiff's lawyer Simpson offered to return the "settlement" check at the initial CR2A hearing. This information alone should be sufficient to reverse the sanctions for failure to post bond. On that same day, June 21, 2019, unfamiliar with appeal bonds, lawyer for the plaintiff reached out to defense counsel with a proposed or draft bond, via e-mail, payable to Safeco Insurance Company of America and to Liberty Mutual, the issuers of the check, and not to the defendant Horton. Despite this small but admittedly misguided effort, these attorneys stated on the record that the plaintiff's lawyer had "filed" the bond, including this attempted draft bond as an attachment to their motion seeking additional sanctions for a deficient bond. This amounts to an additional lie before the tribunal.

After this, informing opposing counsel that the plaintiff's lawyer would be on vacation the week following the hearing, Horton and her defense team moved for a deficient bond hearing for the week after, despite the plaintiff's lawyer having been out of town, unavailable, and not having "filed" anything with the Court, in order for the bond to be deficient. On July 26, 2019, Horton and her defense team again moved for CR 11 sanctions, inapplicable in this matter, and the Court ordered that the plaintiff's (and his attorney this time, it appeared) be sanctioned \$25,000 for his failure to post a bond in seeking an appeal. Now, the appeal would have cost Mr. Byrd \$525,000. This is unreasonable. Nor does it make sense that the plaintiff's lawyer is sanctioned for failure to post a bond, given the rule that a law firm may not post bond for its own client

anyway. See RCW 19.72.020. Simpson Law PLLC, the firm representing Mr. Byrd in the above-referenced matter, never purported to act as surety before the court. In contrast, at the hearing on July 26, 2019, plaintiff's lawyer offered to show financial-related documents demonstrating Mr. Byrd's efforts in obtaining a bond from a separate, accredited financial institution, but the Court chose not to view those documents. Instead, the Court issued additional sanctions in the amount of \$25,000. Even under Washington's contempt laws, the maximum amount of sanctions that a Court may impose on a defendant found guilty of contempt is \$5,000. See RCW 7.21.040(5). The violation of RCW 7.21.040 is twofold, as under section (2)(c) [and (d)] "a judge making a request pursuant to this subsection shall be disqualified from presiding at the trial." The trial court's imposition of an exorbitant \$25,000 sanction against Simpson for Byrd's inability to post supersedeas bond is egregious and an abuse of discretion for its contrariness to the law in several respects, that it exceeds the \$5,000 maximum available at law, puts the burden of the bond on the litigating attorney, and the judge acts as judge, jury and executioner for his own absurd sanctions. The Supreme Court is wise to reverse and strike this specific imposition of sanctions against Simpson for what appear to be obvious reasons

III. Issue #3: CR 2A Motion to Compel Settlement

The Court of Appeals refused to review the trial court's erroneous application of the law with regard to the Defendant's CR2A Motion to Compel Settlement. Where a party moves to enforce a CR 2A agreement based on declarations or affidavits, a trial court should proceed as if considering a motion for summary judgment.⁶ If the nonmoving party raises a genuine issue of material fact, a trial court abuses its discretion if it enforces the agreement without first resolving such issues following an evidentiary hearing.⁷ The Washington State Supreme Court has held that a litigant does not waive his right to appeal by accepting a settlement check and that the trial court erred when it implied and enforced additional terms that were not agreed to by the parties.⁸

CR 2A applies when (1) the agreement was made by the parties or their attorneys "in respect to the proceedings in a cause," and (2) the purport of the agreement is disputed.⁹ An agreement is disputed under this rule if there is a genuine dispute over either the existence or a material term of the agreement.¹⁰ "The moving party has the burden to prove there are no genuine disputes regarding the agreement's existence or material terms.¹¹ The court must view the evidence in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party and decide whether reasonable minds could reach but one conclusion.¹²

Similar to the cases above, particularly *Condon*, Byrd accepted the policy limits check, did not waive his right to appeal, and the trial court erred when it implied and enforced additional terms that were not agreed to by the parties. *Id*. This is an especially

⁶ Brinkerhoff v. Campbell, 99 Wn. App. 692, at 696-97 (citing In re Marriage of Ferree, 71 Wn. App. 35, 43, 856 P.2d 706 (1993); In re Patterson, 93 Wn. App. 579, 584, 969 P.2d 1106 (1999)).

⁷ *Id*. at 697.

⁸ See Condon v. Condon, 298 P.3d 86, 177 Wash.2d 150 (2013).

⁹ Ferree, 71 Wn. App. at 39.

¹⁰ Patterson, 93 Wn. App. at 583.

¹¹ *Id*. (emphasis added).

¹² Brinkerhoff, 99 Wn. App. at 697 (citing Ferree, 71 Wn. App. at 44).

suitable argument to the \$25,000 sanctions above for failure to post supersedeas bond, an onerous requirement of a litigant who suffered such grave injuries and is aimed at thwarting Byrd's right to an appeal.

"When the injured party released both the principal and agent from liability, but the agent did not participate in the settlement agreement, the agent was not thereby discharged from liability to the principal for contribution or indemnity." Where principal and agent were codefendants in [an] action, settlement with agent did not also release principal, where court determined that the agent would be unable to compensate fully the plaintiff. 14

Under 4.22.070 (1) "In all actions involving fault of <u>more than one entity</u>, the trier of fact shall determine the percentage of the total fault which is attributable to *every* entity which caused the claimant's damages..." *See* 4.22.070(1) RCW. The Washington Supreme Court in its *Clark v. Pacificorp* decision laid to rest any argument that the RCW 4.22.070 is equivocal on this point or that the trier of fact's duty of fault allocation can be construed narrowly:

The language of RCW 4.22.070(1) is clear and unambiguous: "the trier of fact shall determine the percentage of the total fault which is attributable to every entity which caused the claimant' damages." (Italics ours.) "Shall" is presumed mandatory. Reserving the question to a trier of fact prevents manipulation by any one of the parties. We hold that...RCW 4.22.070 require(s) a trier of fact to determine the percentage of total fault attributable to every entity which caused plaintiff's damages.

¹³ See Kirk v. Moe, 114 Wn.2d 550, 789 P.2d 84 (Wash. 1990).

¹⁴ See Pickett v. Stephens-Nelsen, Inc., 43 Wn. App. 326, 717 P.2d 277 (Wash. Ct. App. 1986) (emphasis added).

Accordingly, the mandatory language of Subsection (1) plainly commands the allocation of fault to all responsible entities, embracing all nonparties, and including those potential defendants inadvertently or intentionally omitted from the lawsuit by the plaintiff.¹⁵ In the case at hand, the trial court erroneously included MBK Housing in the release agreement, the City of Tacoma is omitted as a party defendant, and the trial court refused to entertain classifying Mr. Byrd as a first-party litigant against the insurer despite sound arguments. Other parties omitted include Horton's marital community.

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