FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
2/16/2022 2:04 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

No. 100456-7

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

DOMINICK BYRD,

Petitioner,

٧.

ALETTA HORTON and MBK HOUSING, LLC,

Respondents,

and

RICHARD SIMPSON, an attorney,

Petitioner.

RESPONDENTS' ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Jeffrey W. Daly, WSBA #26915 Amber R. Hazelquist, WSBA #41283 Preg O'Donnell & Gillett PLLC 901 Fifth Avenue, Suite 3400 Seattle, WA 98164 (206) 287-1775 Attorneys for Respondents Aletta Horton and MBK Housing, LLC

I. IDENTITY OF RESPONDENT

Aletta Horton and MBK Housing, LLC were the defendants at the trial court level and respondents in the Court of Appeals, Division Two.

II. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Petitioners, Dominick Byrd and his attorney, Richard Simpson (referred to collectively as "Petitioners")¹, identified four issues for review. Respondents, Aletta Horton and MBK Housing, LLC ("Respondents") move this Court to deny the Petition for Review in its entirety. The Appellate Court's decision does not conflict with any decision of the Supreme Court or published decision of the Court of Appeals. See RAP 13.4(b). It does not

¹The Appellate Court Order Dismissing the underlying appeal notes that when an attorney is sanctioned by the trial court, they become a party to the action and may appeal the sanction as an aggrieved party. App. 3-5. Attorney Simpson therefore became a party to the action when he was sanctioned by the trial court and he personally appeals the Order finding him in contempt of court making him at least a joint petitioner with Mr. Byrd here, if not the only petitioner considering the order finding him in contempt is the only order actually at issue.

involve a significant question of law under the Washington or United States Constitution and there is no issue of substantial public interest. See RAP 13.4(b). Petitioners do not even cite to RAP 13.4(b) which identifies specific potential grounds for acceptance of review by the Supreme Court.

None of Petitioners' four stated, "Issues for Review" were before the Appellate Court and thus they are not appropriately before this Court either. The appeal at issue was strictly related to an order finding Mr. Byrd's attorney, Mr. Simpson, in contempt of court for his refusal to pay \$30,000 in sanctions that had been issued against him due to his behavior in the trial court. App. 1-2² (Notice of Discretionary Review).

This Court need look no further than the Appellate Court's decision dismissing Petitioners' appeal, which

 $^{^{2}}$ An Appendix of relevant documents is attached hereto and labelled Appendix 0001-00052. The Appendix will be cited to as (App. 1 – 52).

affirms that the appeal was strictly related to a show cause order against Mr. Simpson: "Simpson appeals the court's contempt order and the underlying sanctions." App. at 3-5 (Decision Dismissing Appeal). In addressing the fact Mr. Simpson was attempting to use the appeal of the contempt order to re-appeal orders he previously appealed on behalf of Mr. Byrd the Appellate Court states, "Furthermore, Simpson provides no argument why a contempt order against Simpson is grounds for Byrd to circumvent our previous dismissal of Byrd's appeal with prejudice." *Id.*

The Appellate Court properly dismissed Petitioners' Appeal as Petitioners' Opening Brief, (much like the present Petition for Review) did not cite to the case record and did not contain any coherent argument or legal authority regarding the show cause order actually being appealed: "Simpson fails to provide this court with *any* argument in his opening brief regarding the sanctions or

the contempt order, and Simpson fails to provide any citations to the record or to legal authority." *Id.*

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Background.

The underlying matter arises from a house fire that occurred in Tacoma, Washington on October 18, 2017. App. 6-14. (Plaintiff's Complaint). At the time of the fire the house had six residents, including appellant, Dominick Byrd. *Id.* Mr. Byrd's lawsuit included claims for personal injury arising from the fire against Ms. Aletta Horton and MBK Housing, LLC. *Id.* Ms. Horton is the sole member of MBK Housing, which is uninsured and holds no assets. App. 15-17. (Declaration of Aletta Horton, March 6, 2019). MBK Housing, LLC has never owned the home at issue. *Id.*

Petitioners' "Statement of the Case" is largely fiction and as such does not include required citation to the record. However, as admitted by Petitioners at page 6 of

their motion, less than six months after Mr. Byrd had filed his Complaint, Respondents, through their insurer, agreed to pay Respondents' insurance policy limits to settle Mr. Byrd's lawsuit. See Petitioners' Motion at page 6. The agreement was made despite the fact the cause of the fire was never discovered, Petitioners' assertion that, "By all reasonable inferences the fire originated at an electrical outlet in a vacant room..." is unsubstantiated. See Petitioners' Motion at page 3.

At Mr. Simpson's request, an in-person meeting was set for March 1, 2019 to finalize the settlement documents and provide the settlement check. App. 18-30 (Motion to Enforce Settlement). Despite the fact Mr. Byrd signed the Settlement Agreement agreeing to dismiss his lawsuit in exchange for Respondents \$500,000 insurance policy limits, in the presence of and with the advice of his attorney, Mr. Simpson, Mr. Byrd and Mr. Simpson later disputed the validity of the settlement agreement. *Id.* The

dispute eventually resulted in a trial court order enforcing the settlement and awarding Respondents \$5,000 in sanctions against Mr. Simpson for his conduct. App. 31-34 (Trial Court Order Enforcing Settlement and Awarding Sanctions). The trial court matter was then dismissed via a stipulation and order for dismissal signed by counsel and the trial court judge. App. 35-36 (Stipulation and Order of Dismissal).

B. Mr. Byrd's First Appeal.

Mr. Byrd previously appealed the trial court order enforcing the parties' settlement agreement and requiring Mr. Simpson to pay Respondents \$5,000 in sanctions via a Notice of Appeal filed on April 18, 2019. App. 37-38 (Notice of Appeal). The earlier appeal was dismissed by the Appellate Court, with prejudice, due to Mr. Byrd's failure to comply with a trial court order requiring that he obtain a bond, or deposit in the court registry, the \$500,000 in settlement monies he elected to

keep if he wished to continue pursuing an appeal of the validity of the parties' agreement to settle for Respondents' insurance policy limits. App. 39-40 (Ruling from COA, September 23, 2019).

C. Horton Pursues Payment of the Unpaid Sanctions.

the Following receipt of Appellate Court's September 23, 2019 order dismissing Mr. Byrd's first appeal, Respondents, through counsel, began pursuing payment of the unpaid sanctions awarded by the trial court against attorney, Mr. Simpson, based on Mr. Simpson's conduct in the underlying matter related to the settlement and related to his promises regarding the location of the settlement money and his ability to work with his client to secure a bond or deposit the settlement money in the court registry. App. 41-45 (order awarding \$25,000 in sanctions related to deficient bond); App. 46-51 (Defendants' Motion for Order to Show Cause).

Ultimately, Mr. Simpson appeared on December 13, 2019 for a show cause hearing. App. 52. (Show Cause Order). At that hearing the trial court issued an order finding Mr. Simpson in contempt of the court's orders awarding sanctions against him in the amounts of \$5,000 and \$25,000 due to his refusal to pay the sanctions. *Id.* The trial court gave Mr. Simpson approximately one month to cure and comply with the earlier trial court orders or remedial sanctions of an additional \$2,000/day would begin to accrue. *Id.* The trial court gave Mr. Simpson approximately two months to cure or a bench warrant was to be issued for Mr. Simpson's arrest. *Id.*

On January 2, 2020, Petitioners filed the Notice of Discretionary Review at issue in the underlying appeal asking this court to review the trial court's December 13, 2019 Order on the Show Cause Hearing. App. 1-2. (Notice of Discretionary Review). No other orders were appealed and in fact, appeal of any other orders,

including the orders actually awarding sanctions against Mr. Simpson, would not have been timely. *Id.*

IV. ARGUMENT

The Petition for Review should be denied as Petitioners fail to comply with the basic rules of appellate procedure here at the Supreme Court level just as they did at the Appellate Court level. Pursuant to RAP 13.4(b):

A petition for review will be accepted by the Supreme Court only: (1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a published decision of the Court of Appeals; or (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

RAP 13.4(b). Petitioners' Motion for Review does not even cite to RAP 13.4(b) let alone address the applicability of any of the specified grounds for review to this request for review.

111

There is no valid basis for review of the Appellate Court decision terminating review. The Appellate Court appropriately dismissed Petitioners' appeal, foremost, because there was not even a coherent argument included in Petitioners' Opening Brief with regard to what was actually being appealed. Mr. Simpson, on behalf of his client, filed an Opening Brief wherein he spent fifty pages arguing about issues that were not part of the appeal and thus the appeal was appropriately terminated. The Appellate Court held that the Contempt Order against Mr. Simpson issued in December 2019 was not grounds for his client, Mr. Byrd, to re-litigate the underlying matter or re-file his earlier appeal.

The appeal was further correctly dismissed as Petitioners failed to cite to the court record in their opening brief. Exactly as is the case here, the Opening Brief was rife with Attorney Simpson's opinions and best recollections rather than containing even a single citation

to the record.

The Appellate Court's decision dismissing Mr. Simpson's appeal of the show cause order finding him in contempt of court for his refusal to pay \$30,000 in sanctions issued against him due to his behavior at the trial court level was appropriate in all respects.

V. CONCLUSION

Respondents respectfully request an order denying Petitioners' Request for Review. There is no valid basis for Supreme Court review of the Appellate Court's decision. The Appellate Court rightly concluded that Mr. Simpson had provided no relevant argument and further that he failed to follow the procedural rules of the court such as by citing to the record. Pursuant to RAP 13.4(b) there are no grounds justifying review of the Appellate Court decision.

///

111

I certify that this document contains 1,712 words, excluding the parts of the document exempted from the word count by RAP 18.17.